STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Beaufort County

Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

ANDRE GREEN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000002

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUL 10 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief, where deficiency was found following trial counsel's failure to object to a question by law enforcement to Petitioner asking why a non-testifying codefendant indicated that Petitioner committed the crimes for which both men were charged?

Whether the PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief, where counsel failed to object to phone calls allegedly placed to a complaining witness, where the State alleged witness intimidation, where the calls were not linked to Petitioner, and where the PCR Court analyzed the issue under a hearsay lens rather than an ineffective assistance of counsel claim?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by a Beaufort County grand jury on or about December 15, 2011 for kidnapping, armed robbery, carjacking, and unlawful carrying of a pistol. App. 384 – 391. The State called his case to trial on April 23, 2012 before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury. App. 1. Patrick Hall and Jeffrey Stephens appeared on behalf of the State, and Donald Colongeli represented Petitioner during the three-day trial. The jury found Petitioner not guilty on the armed robbery and unlawful carrying of a pistol charges and guilty of carjacking and kidnapping. App. 281 ll. 6 – 17.

Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to thirty years on the kidnapping charge, suspended upon the service of twelve years and probation for five years. App. 285 ll. 10 – 21. On the carjacking charge, Petitioner was sentenced to twelve years, concurrent. App. 285 l. 22 – App. 286 l. 12.

Trial counsel made several post-trial motions the day after trial, all of which were denied. App. 288 – 302. Petitioner's direct appeal was dismissed following a brief filed pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on or about February 17, 2014. App. 304 – 312. It contained multiple allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, including claims that counsel failed to object when the State played a CD containing audio of an interview between Andre Massey and Petitioner and that counsel failed to object to the introduction of calls to a complaining witness wherein the State was alleging witness intimidation. App. 311. The State made its Return on or about September 8, 2014. App. 313 – 316.

An evidentiary hearing took place on June 5, 2017 before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein. App. 318. Tristan Shaffer represented Petitioner, and Ruston Neely appeared on behalf of the State. Trial counsel testified at the hearing.

An Order of Dismissal was issued on or about November 21, 2017. App. 371 – 383. The PCR Court denied relief on five allegations raised by Petitioner, including counsel’s failure to object to the State playing the CD containing an objectionable question suggesting that Petitioner’s codefendant told law enforcement Petitioner had committed the crimes in question. Although the PCR Court found trial counsel was deficient in this regard, the Court found that Petitioner failed to prove prejudice. App. 377 – 380.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief, where deficiency was found following trial counsel's failure to object to a question by law enforcement to Petitioner asking why a non-testifying codefendant indicated that Petitioner committed the crimes for which both men were charged.

A redacted version of the interview between law enforcement and Petitioner was played before the jury in Petitioner's trial. App. 198 ll. 8 – 12; Applicant's Exhibit 1 (CD of Andrew Green Interview). The interview is an unrefined conversation between Petitioner and Andre Massey, an employee of the Port Royal Police Department. Id.; App. 181 ll. 6 – 16. While the CD was being played, trial counsel interrupted and voiced an objection to the mention of Petitioner's background. App. 198 l. 19 – App. 202 l. 18. However, counsel failed to object to a question posed by Massey to Petitioner asking why codefendant Brandon Parker would have said Petitioner was with him and "the one who done these things, if he hadn't done it."

The facts giving rise to Petitioner's arrest allegedly took place on June 9, 2011. App. 111 l. 5 – App. 125 l. 14. Dennis Boskey rode with Parker to some apartments so Boskey could collect twenty dollars that someone owed him. Id. Boskey testified that a man got into the back of the car and rode with them. Id. Boskey claimed the man placed a gun against the back of his head and requested that he empty his pockets. Id. Boskey indicated that he was directed to get into the trunk of the car, which he did. Id.

Boskey pulled the release latch while in the trunk of his car and jumped out. App. 115 l. 22 – App. 118 l. 11. A 911 call was made, and law enforcement arrived. Id. Boskey looked at a series of photographs and identified a man listed as Andre Green. App. 118 l. 16 – App. 121 l.

13. However, Boskey was unable to identify Andrew Green at trial. App. 118 l. 25 – App. 119 l. 3; App. 148 ll. 16 – 17.

The day after Petitioner was sentenced, trial counsel made multiple post-trial motions and spoke at length regarding one of the objections he should have made at trial. App. 290 – 302. Regarding the interview with Petitioner and the mention of Parker suggesting that Petitioner was the one who robbed Boskey, Petitioner remarked:

I, unfortunately, failed to address or object spontaneously with some discussion Sergeant Massey had with Andre Green dealing with statements purportedly made by Brandon Parker. I was not admonished by the Court, but I had been informed by the Court earlier that day, based on these redactions that [the prosecutor] went out of his way to make the night before, that I should take time at lunch to sit down and address that particular tape, and I fully admitted to the Court after I failed to do so.

App. 291 l. 21 – App. 292 l. 5. Counsel explicitly remarked on the subject of this appeal:

It was right after that objection and motion for a mistrial that a snippet, which even [the prosecutor] would agree to was maybe 1.5 seconds of a comment made by Detective Sergeant Massey about this Brandon Parker comment where it, specifically, if we hear or later read the transcript, said or question Mr. Green saying why would Brandon Parker, who was charged with the exact same charges, say that you were the one with him and did these things to, what would his motive be to lie. *I failed to jump up and object to that.*

App. 293 ll. 7 – 17 (emphasis added). He further suggested that the trial court “would agree that was an error” and indicated that the objection he should have made would have been based on meritorious grounds and possibly sustained. App. 293 ll. 18 – 23.

Counsel later indicated that the tapes, which were redacted, were full of prejudicial comments. App. 294 ll. 10 – 22. He even went as far as to say “[b]ut for my failure to spontaneously object to the testimony of Mr. Massey regarding the co-defendant, I believed that what has transpired in the last 24 hours very well could have been different.” *Id.* Later during the hearing, counsel again admitted to making a mistake. App. 301 ll. 3 – 11. He posited that in

order to save the State money and time, a new trial should be granted. App. 301 ll. 12 – 25. The trial court denied the motion for a new trial. App. 302 ll. 21 – 22.

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant's case. McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 40, 661 S.E.2d 354, 357 (2008). “The PCR applicant has the burden of proving both prongs.” Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109-10, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). To show prejudice, the applicant must show that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

Counsel admitted that he had not listened to the tape before it was played before the jury. App. 342 ll. 1 – 4; App. 345 ll. 11 – 13. PCR counsel expounded upon the PCR court's remark that “at no point did I hear Mr. Green agree with what the officers were saying, at any point” by noting that “at no point was there a confession where he actually said he did it.” App. 338 ll. 11 – 25.

PCR counsel made a cogent argument regarding deficiency which the PCR court appeared to entertain when it asked specifically about prejudice. App. 347 l. 1 – App. 352 l. 3. Notably, PCR counsel pointed out that the complainant did not identify Petitioner at trial. Additionally, the jury returned a not guilty verdict on two out of the four charges. Rather than judging simply the credibility of Boskey, the State was able to bolster his testimony with Parker, a man who Boskey placed in the car at the time of the robbery.

The PCR court exhibited concern that trial counsel was unable to cross-examine the codefendant, only the law enforcement officer. App. 356 l. 22 – App. 358 l. 14. Prejudice manifested itself in Petitioner’s case when this remark reinforced the credibility of Boskey. This was a comment by a law enforcement official representing that Petitioner’s codefendant advised the police that Petitioner was the one who robbed Boskey. Without such a remark, the jury would only have had Boskey’s testimony, sans bolstering. Based upon the two not guilty verdicts and the lack of identification at trial, there exists a reasonable probability that but for the deficiency in the form of counsel’s failure to object, the jury may have found him innocent of additional charges as well.

II. The PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief, where counsel failed to object to phone calls allegedly placed to a complaining witness, where the State alleged witness intimidation, where the calls were not linked to Petitioner, and where the PCR Court analyzed the issue under a hearsay lens rather than an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

At trial, the State played a recorded interview between Boskey and Massey, part of which contained a discussion regarding threatening phone calls Boskey received. App. 134 l. 9 – 140 l. 16. Boskey testified that he was worried about the protection and safety of his family. App. 140 ll. 3 – 10. Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he recalled allegations of telephone calls from Atlanta from unknown individuals. App. 328 ll. 7 – 21.

As pointed out by PCR counsel, the State suggested during closing argument that Boskey was intimidated into not identifying Petitioner. App. 226 l. 22 – App. 227 l. 1; App. 330 ll. 15 – 21. Trial counsel noted that Petitioner did not make the telephone calls, and it was “pure

speculation” that someone that may have known Petitioner would have made the calls to Boskey. App. 331 ll. 3 – 17.

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that his attorney's performance was deficient and that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Thrift v. State, 302 S.C. 535, 397 S.E.2d 523 (1990). Counsel in a criminal case must confine themselves to the record in addressing the jury. State v. Coleman, 301 S.C. 57, 389 S.E.2d 659 (1990). References to threats or dangers to witnesses are improper unless evidence is offered connecting the defendant with the threats. State v. Merriman, 287 S.C. 74, 337 S.E.2d 218 (Ct.App.1985). It would be a “prostitution of justice” to permit evidence that someone attempted to influence a witness by fear or fright without any evidence that connects the defendant with the tampering. State v. Rogers, 96 S.C. 350, 352, 80 S.E. 620, 621 (1914). Witness intimidation evidence may be admitted to show a consciousness of guilt if linked to a defendant. State v. Edwards, 383 S.C. 66, 678 S.E.2d 405 (2009). “Establishing the defendant as the source of the intimidation provides the necessary reliability for admissibility.” Id.

The findings of fact and conclusions of law in the Order of Dismissal rephrased Petitioner’s ineffectiveness allegation and analyzed it solely under a hearsay standard. App. 376 – 377. The allegation raised in the PCR application and as discussed at the evidentiary hearing was not simply whether the testimony was hearsay, but whether the telephone calls could be linked to Petitioner. The PCR Court should not have analyzed whether the threats were offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted; this appeal revolves around whether trial counsel was deficient in failing to object because the phone calls were not linked to Petitioner.

Boskey testified about the telephone calls, and the State played the audio of his interview with Massey. App. 124 l. 6 – App. 125 l. 17; App. 134 l. 9 – App. 140 l. 10. Later during closing arguments the assistant solicitor rehashed some of those remarks. App. 228 ll. 4 – 19. However, because these telephone calls were not linked to Petitioner, counsel should have objected to prevent their introduction. See Mincey v. State, 314 S.C. 355, 444 S.E.2d 510 (1994). Massey admitted that these telephone calls “could have been from anybody.” App. 208 ll. 10 – 18. In fact, the State never obtained Boskey’s telephone records in an attempt to determine who placed the calls. App. 153 l. 24 – App. 159 l. 15; App. 206 l. 11 – App. 208 l. 17.

There was no evidence that Petitioner intimidated the witness in the telephone calls. Accordingly, counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the introduction of the tape and Petitioner was prejudiced thereby.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, Petitioner requests that the Court grant his petition for writ of certiorari to allow full briefing on these issues.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Taylor D Gilliam", written over a horizontal line.

Taylor D Gilliam
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER