STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Beaufort County
Honorable Diane Shafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 07 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ANDRE GREEN,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000002

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to comments during the police interview by police that the codefendant said Petitioner was involved in the carjacking where Petitioner's admissions during the interview corroborated evidence that Victim identified Petitioner as one of the two carjackers and Petitioner admitted later admitted to Victim he was one of the two carjackers.

II.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to evidence of threatening phone calls Victim received because the evidence was admissible to show Victim's bias in recanting his identification of Petitioner. The defense opened the door to the testimony by referencing Victim's affidavit asking for the charges against Petitioner to be dismissed. Further, the evidence was cumulative to evidence Petitioner intimidated Victim in person and there is not a reasonable probability of a different outcome but for the alleged deficiency of counsel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted for kidnapping, armed robbery, carjacking, and unlawful carrying of a pistol. A jury found him guilty of carjacking and kidnapping, and acquitted him of armed robbery and unlawful carrying of a pistol following trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole on April 23-25, 2012. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to thirty years' imprisonment suspended to eighteen years' imprisonment and five years' probation for kidnapping. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner for a concurrent twelve year sentence for carjacking. Counsel's post-trial motions were denied and Petitioner's appeal was dismissed pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on February 17, 2014. Following an evidentiary hearing on June 5, 2017, the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein denied relief by order dated November 13, 2017.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Monica Wiser was driving on the road when he saw a man roll out of a car trunk and onto the pavement. Two cars swerved around him. She came to a stop and called 911. App. p. 99. The man (Victim) had cuts on his hands and described them as open wounds. App. pp. 101-02. The Master Sergeant Communications Coordinator, Melanie Smith, authenticated a recording of a 911 call from Victim, who also called 911. When asked who put him in the trunk of this car, he said he did not want to get into that. App. p. 109.

The Victim testified he was at Spanish Trace Apartments when he saw Brad Parker, who asked for a ride in his car. A second black male also entered the vehicle, sitting in the back seat. Victim stopped by a basketball court to let Parker out, but he said he did not want to get out because he was in trouble. Parker made Victim drive to another, more secluded, location. Victim testified as he put the vehicle in reverse, the man in the back seat put a gun to the back of Victim's head and told Victim to run through his pockets. Victim only had \$30. He was then made to get in the trunk of his vehicle. Victim pulled the latch inside the trunk and jumped out while the car was still moving. He was on the McTeer Bridge. A lady stopped and called 911 on his behalf. App. 111-16. He testified he saw that there were still two people in the car as it drove away, including Parker. App. p. 116.

The prosecutor asked Victim how he knew it was a gun placed in the back of his head at the time. Victim testified, "I mean, I felt of a gun. I'm not that -- I'm pretty smart to know what a gun is." App. p. 113, line 22 – p. 114, line 2. He agreed he "could feel" the object was a gun. App. p. 114, lines 3-4. Perhaps this testimony, in which Victim admitted he did not see a gun during this initial robbery, might explain why Petitioner was acquitted of armed robbery, which requires the use

(or representation) of a weapon and the weapons charge. Indications from later cross-examination were that Victim had trouble describing the gun. App. p. 162, line 14 – p. 163, line 3.

Victim explained the second man told him to stand in front of his car and he complied while the man “went through the car.” Victim walked to the left side of the car, then struggled with Parker. The other man ran over and pointed a gun at Victim and asked Victim if he wanted to die. Then he ran back over to the other side. The carjackers had some difficulty popping the car trunk open, but once they did, the man ordered Victim in the trunk. App. p. 114, lines 7-23.

Victim left the scene and went to an automotive parts store where he called 911 and met responding deputies. App. pp. 117-18. Victim agreed he picked a person out of the photographic lineup without hesitation. App. p. 119; p. 121, lines 1-13. Victim agreed he picked out photograph Number 2, and when asked who the person was to this case, Victim answered, “To the case he is, I believe the – what you call it? Um, pros – you all prosecuting him, I believe, in the case.” App. p. 119, lines 9-25. When asked if the picture resembles the person sitting at the table, Victim answered, “At this particular time, it looks like – it could be, very well.” App. p. 121, lines 10-13.

He also agreed that he had contact with Petitioner since the incident when Petitioner visited him at Victim’s fiancé’s apartment. He also admitted he received a couple of phone calls since the incident. App. pp. 121-22. He admitted he received the phone calls from a number with an Atlanta area code although he vacillated as to whether they were threatening phone calls. App. pp. 124-25.

Victim agreed after the kidnapping, Petitioner came to his house with two people. Victim agreed he was worried about his family. App. p. 140. Victim contended he should have the right not to go through with the trial. App. p. 144. On cross-examination he admitted he was at trial only

because of the subpoena. He agreed he signed a notarized statement with the bondsman seeking to have the charges against Petitioner dismissed. App. pp. 143-44; p. 147. He admitted he went to the police station about his ability to identify Petitioner **and for his daughter's safety**. App. p. 151. He agreed Petitioner did not call him from the Atlanta numbers. He testified he erased them. App. pp. 151-52; pp. 153-54.

On redirect, Victim agreed that the two people in the car that day were the people that robbed him. App. p. 173. On cross-examination, Victim was asked if he told officers he felt intimidated about his meeting with Petitioner. Victim replied that he told officers, "I was more concerned about my kids if anything else, Sir." App. p. 153, lines 10-15.

Sergeant Andre Massey was the investigator on the case. While Victim knew Parker, Sergeant Massey explained Victim said he only knew the other perpetrator as "Arnie." Law enforcement was informed Petitioner was called "Arnie" and Sergeant Massey placed him in a photographic lineup. Victim immediately identified Petitioner from this photographic lineup. App. pp. 185-86.

On cross-examination, Sergeant Massey admitted the threats from the Atlanta phone numbers could have been from anybody. App. pp. 207-08.

Sergeant Massey's audio-recorded interview with Petitioner was published to the jury. State's Exhibit No. 4. Petitioner admitted he and Parker received a ride from Victim, but claimed Victim let him out by the basketball courts and he was not part of the subsequent crimes. He also admitted he was called "Arnie." 14:45-15:00. Additionally, he admitted he went to Victim's house and spoke with him. He claimed Victim did not even know who he was when he visited Victim.

9:30-10:45.

Sergeant Massey interviewed Victim shortly after his interview with Petitioner. This also was recorded. State's Exhibit No. 5. Victim initially claimed he was not sure if Petitioner was the other robber or not. He then complained the police would not really be able to protect him. He admitted people came to his house, and that got to the point he did not like. Then he said he did not know "the guy." Sergeant Massey then told Victim he interviewed Petitioner the day before and Petitioner said he visited Victim. Victim verified that he really was robbed and kidnapped by two people. He said at some point after he identified Petitioner as one of the carjackers, Petitioner and two other people came to the house and spoke with Victim outside while they circled around him. Victim's daughter and son were outside and Victim told them to go up the steps to safety, but the children were not listening.

During the interview, Victim recounted Petitioner asked him if he was sure it was Petitioner and Victim replied how he could ask that when "you did wrong." Victim told Petitioner he was trying to get away with something he did. Petitioner informed Victim he knew where Victim lived and Victim told Petitioner it was between him and the police. Petitioner apologized and said Parker put him up to the robbery and said Victim was a drug dealer. He found out later that Victim was a "good dude" and said he was sorry he did it.

Victim said during the interview that he received two phone calls about two weeks later saying he needed to drop the charges against Petitioner. In the second call, they threatened drive-by shootings. He got another call the day before saying he needed to drop the charges. He said he deleted the messages. He admitted Petitioner was picking at his patience.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts defer to the post-conviction relief court's factual findings and will uphold them if there is probative evidence in the record to support them. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-40 (2018); Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). Only pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the lower court. Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. Because the issues presented by Petitioner in the instant case are questions of fact, they should be affirmed if supported by probative evidence.

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be

on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. Id. at 697. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffective assistance claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Id.

The applicant is prejudiced by the deficient performance if "there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 694. "When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt." Id. at 695.

ARGUMENT

I.

Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to comments during the police interview by police that the codefendant said Petitioner was involved in the carjacking where Petitioner's admissions during the interview corroborated evidence that Victim identified Petitioner as one of the two carjackers and Petitioner admitted later admitted to Victim he was one of the two carjackers.

Petitioner contends the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to Sergeant Massey's comments during his interview with Petitioner stating Petitioner's codefendant, Brad Parker, said Petitioner was involved in the carjacking.

In the direct appeal context, the denial of defendant's right to confrontation is subject to harmless error analysis. The factors set out to consider are: (1) the importance of the witness's testimony in the State's case; (2) whether the testimony was cumulative; (3) the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness; (4) the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted; (5) the overall strength of the State's case. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986).

In the instant case, the codefendant did not testify. The hearsay was cumulative to Victim's testimony that both passengers participated in the kidnapping and carjacking. Victim told Sergeant Massey he knew the person in the neighborhood as "Arnie." Petitioner admitted he is known as "Arnie" (he corrected the officer when he said the nickname was "Ernie"). Victim immediately picked Petitioner out of a photographic lineup. Petitioner admitted he received a ride from the Victim that day although he claimed he exited the vehicle before the carjacking took place. He also

admitted to visiting Victim at his house after the incident. Victim told Sergeant Massey that Petitioner visited his house with two associates who menacingly circled him. Petitioner admitted to Victim he was one of the carjackers, as Petitioner described in detail during his recorded interview with Sergeant Massey. Victim's subsequent refusal to identify Petitioner in court as the gunmen during the carjacking was so obviously the product of witness intimidation that it bolstered, rather than diminished, the State's case against Petitioner. The State's case was strong and the hearsay was cumulative to Petitioner's admissions and Victim's corroborated testimony. The supposed error would be harmless under the Van Arsdall factors.

The present case differs significantly from State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015), upon which Petitioner relies. First, evidence of Petitioner's identity is stronger in the instant case than the evidence against Brewer for the murder conviction that this Court reversed. Second, unlike Brewer, who denied involvement in the shootings, Petitioner made damaging admissions during his interview. Brewer was decided three years after Petitioner's trial.

Given the abundant evidence establishing Petitioner's involvement in the crime, redaction of the hearsay statement made in the course of the interview with Petitioner would not create a reasonable probability of a different result under Strickland. Far more damaging during the interview was Petitioner's admissions that established he was in the vehicle, corroborated Victim's statement to law enforcement that he went by "Arnie," and corroborated that he visited Victim to confront Victim on his identification of Petitioner. Accordingly, the PCR court's finding of no prejudice is supported by probative evidence.

II.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to evidence of threatening phone calls Victim received because the evidence was admissible to show Victim's bias in recanting his identification of Petitioner. The defense opened the door to the testimony by referencing Victim's affidavit asking for the charges against Petitioner to be dismissed. Further, the evidence was cumulative to evidence Petitioner intimidated Victim in person and there is not a reasonable probability of a different outcome but for the alleged deficiency of counsel.

Petitioner claims the PCR court erred in denying relief because he contends counsel was ineffective for not objecting to testimony concerning threatening phone calls Victim received from a number with an Atlanta area code. Petitioner argues the phone calls were inadmissible because there was no evidence indicating Petitioner was responsible for the phone calls and he was unfairly prejudiced.

Petitioner's argument falls short because the cases he cites contemplate situations where evidence of witness intimidation is admitted to show a defendant's consciousness of guilt without the necessary nexus to show the defendant was responsible for the intimidating conduct. Evidence of the phone calls in this case was admitted as evidence of why Victim was recanting his identification of Petitioner as a carjacker.

Evidence of the phone calls was relevant because the phone calls were evidence of motive or bias for Victim to recant his identification of Petitioner as one of the two carjackers. Rule 608(c), SCRE. This became especially relevant because Petitioner's counsel elicited testimony about Victim signing a notarized statement indicating he wanted Petitioner's case dismissed. App. pp. 146-47. Counsel opened the door to evidence showing why Victim was compelled to sign this notarized

statement. “When a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.” State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 137, 731 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2012).

Additionally, the phone calls were cumulative to evidence that Petitioner attempted in person to intimidate Victim by visiting his house with two associates and menacingly circling Victim. Moreover, any potential danger of unfair prejudice was diminished by the admissions by Sergeant Massey and Victim that they did not know who made the phone calls. Finally, there simply is not a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different if counsel objected to the evidence. Petitioner’s identity as one of the perpetrators was firmly established by his admission he rode in the car that day, his admission he went to Victim’s house to confront him later, and his admission he goes by “Arnie.” Therefore, Victim’s statement to the officer that the perpetrator was someone who goes by the name Arnie is corroborated, and Victim’s identification of Petitioner from the photographic lineup is bolstered by Petitioner’s admission to being in the vehicle. Victim’s interview with law enforcement is especially damaging to Petitioner’s case because Victim recounts how Petitioner admits to participating in the crimes and Victim recounts how Petitioner intimidated him when he visited Victim’s residence with two of his associates. Suppressing evidence of the phone calls would not have affected the outcome of the trial.

Accordingly, probative evidence supports the PCR court’s findings and the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the PCR court's denial of the PCR application is supported by probative evidence and the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied. Should this Court see fit to grant the petition, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.